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Case Summary: Following two jury trials, on three different cases, defen-
dant was convicted of multiple crimes. In this consolidated criminal appeal, 
defendant appeals three judgments of conviction, raising multiple assignments of 
error. We write only to address defendant’s fifth and eighth assignments of error. 
In his fifth assignment of error, defendant argues that, under Article I, section 
11, of the Oregon Constitution, and the Sixth Amendment to the United States 
Constitution, the trial court erred when it concluded that he waived his right to 
counsel, and by denying defendant’s request for appointment of counsel following 
the withdrawal of his final attorney in case numbers 12-06-32917 and 12-07-
33213. In defendant’s eighth assignment of error, he argues that the trial court 
erred when it denied his demurrer to the indictment in case number 12-06-32917. 
Held: Defendant validly waived his right to counsel under Article 1, section 11 
and the Sixth Amendment. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it 
required defendant to proceed pro se and denied his further request for counsel in 
case numbers 12-06-32917 and 12-07-33213. However, the trial court erred when 
it disallowed defendant’s demurrer to the indictment in case number 12-06-32917 
and that error was not harmless.

Case number 12-06-32917 reversed and remanded for entry of judgment 
allowing demurrer. Case number 12-07-33213 remanded for resentencing and 
otherwise affirmed. Case number 12-08-33617 affirmed.



Cite as 286 Or App 745 (2017)	 747

	 TOOKEY, P. J.

	 Following two jury trials, on three different cases, 
defendant was convicted of multiple crimes. In case num-
ber 12-06-32917, defendant was convicted of two counts of 
promoting prostitution, ORS 167.012, and one count each 
of compelling prostitution, ORS 167.017, second-degree 
assault, ORS 163.175, first degree robbery, ORS 164.415, 
fourth-degree assault, ORS 163.160, and tampering with a 
witness, ORS 162.285. In case number 12-07-33213, defen-
dant was convicted of one count of compelling prostitution, 
ORS 167.017, and two counts of promoting prostitution, ORS 
167.012. In case number 12-08-33617, defendant was con-
victed of three counts of tampering with a witness, ORS 
162.285, and one count of tampering with physical evidence, 
ORS 162.295.1

	 In this consolidated criminal appeal, defendant 
appeals three judgments of conviction, raising multiple 
assignments of error.2 We write only to address defendant’s 
fifth and eighth assignments of error.3 In his fifth assign-
ment of error, defendant argues that, under Article I, section 
11, of the Oregon Constitution,4 and the Sixth Amendment 
to the United States Constitution,5 the trial court erred 
when it concluded that he waived his right to counsel, and 
by denying defendant’s request for appointment of counsel 
following the withdrawal of his final attorney in case num-

	 1  Case numbers 12-06-32917 and 12-07-33213 were consolidated and tried 
together and defendant’s judgments of conviction were filed and entered on 
August 13, 2013. Case number 12-08-33617 was severed and tried before those 
two other cases and the judgment of conviction was filed and entered on April 4, 
2013. Throughout the opinion we refer to case numbers 12-06-32917 and 12-07-
33213 as the “Measure 11 and prostitution cases” and case number 12-08-33617 
as the “tampering case.” 
	 2  We reject defendant’s first and fourth assignments of error without discus-
sion. We also reject without discussion the 11 additional assignments of error 
that defendant raises in a pro se supplemental brief. 
	 3  Our resolution of defendant’s eighth assignment of error obviates the need 
to address his second, third, sixth, and seventh assignments of error. 
	 4  Article I, section 11, of the Oregon constitution provides, in part, “In all 
criminal prosecutions, the accused shall have the right * * * to be heard by him-
self and counsel[.]”
	 5  The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, in 
part, “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall * * * have the Assistance of 
Counsel for his defense.” 
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bers 12-06-32917 and 12-07-33213. In defendant’s eighth 
assignment of error, he argues that “[t]he trial court erred 
when it denied defendant’s demurrer to the indictment in 
case number 12-06-32917.” For the reasons that follow, we 
reject defendant’s arguments relating to his fifth assign-
ment of error, but we agree with his arguments relating to 
his eighth assignment of error. Therefore, in case number 
12-06-32917 we reverse and remand for entry of judgment 
allowing demurrer; in case number 12-07-33213 we remand 
for resentencing and otherwise affirm; and in case number 
12-08-33617 we affirm.

I.  WAIVER OF DEFENDANT’S RIGHT TO COUNSEL

	 We begin with defendant’s fifth assignment of 
error. Ultimately, defendant’s challenges relate only to the 
Measure 11 and prostitution cases; however, because the 
procedural history is intertwined with the tampering case, 
we describe the history of all three cases. After defendant 
was indicted for multiple crimes relating to prostitution 
and arrested, the trial court appointed Wollam to represent 
defendant. On September 18, 2012, Wollam withdrew from 
representation due to a conflict of interest. After Wollam’s 
withdrawal, the court appointed James. Because of Wollam’s 
conflict, the court extended the time for all three cases to 
be tried to December 20, so James would have time to pre-
pare. On November 1, James had to withdraw due to an 
ethical conflict, but emphasized that “this in no way has— 
represents any sort of conflict that I have with [defendant].” 
The court then appointed two attorneys, Pagan and Herivel, 
and extended the trial date to January 22, 2013.

	 On January 16, a week before the trial was set to 
begin, Pagan and Herivel requested to withdraw from the 
cases due to a “total breakdown of the attorney/client rela-
tionship.” Before Pagan and Herivel withdrew, Pagan voiced 
his concern that no attorney would be prepared to try such 
a complex case by the date scheduled for trial, January 22. 
Defendant agreed to terminate the representation and 
requested to represent himself. The court refused to further 
delay the trial unless defendant waived his statutory speedy 
trial rights, which defendant refused to do. Defendant pro-
posed that he might be able to retain private counsel, but 
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once again invoked his right to represent himself. The court 
allowed Pagan and Herivel to withdraw as defendant’s 
attorneys, but ordered Pagan to stay on as defendant’s legal 
advisor until a new attorney was appointed. Later that day, 
Dials was appointed as defendant’s attorney.

	 On January 24, the court determined that defen-
dant’s 180-day statutory speedy trial right would not com-
pel his release until February 2, and defendant continued to 
refuse to waive his speedy trial rights to allow Dials more 
time to prepare for trial. On January 25, Dials requested 
to withdraw because he would be unable to prepare for 
trial which was now scheduled for January 28. After being 
warned about the consequences by the court, defendant 
again refused to waive his speedy trial right so Dials would 
have more time to prepare for trial. As a result, the trial 
court granted Dials’s request to withdraw as defense coun-
sel because he would be unable to render defendant effective 
assistance, but the court required him to stay on as defen-
dant’s legal advisor.

	 On January 28, the court severed defendant’s tam-
pering case from defendant’s Measure 11 and prostitution 
cases, and decided to try the tampering case first. The court 
explained:

“[I]n this case what has occurred which brought—what 
brought [defendant] into court today for trial without coun-
sel is a sequence of events in which * * * [t]he Court has 
appointed counsel on numerous occasions for [defendant]. 
A number of those * * * attorneys had to withdraw because 
of conflicts. * * * Shortly before trial, [defendant] asked for 
his last attorney, Mr. Pagan, to be removed from the case. 
The Court granted that request. * * * But—but explained 
* * * to [defendant] that—that getting a new lawyer up to 
speed at this late date would be difficult, if not impossi-
ble. [Defendant] understood that, decided he wanted a new 
lawyer in any event and the Court granted that request. 
Then [defendant] asked for a delay in this—in his trial so 
that his new lawyer could be brought up to speed and be 
prepared to try the case. As I understand from Presiding 
Court, the request for a delay was denied after the Court 
explained to [defendant] that the Court would grant his 
request for additional time to allow Mr. Dials, at that time 
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his court-appointed counsel, to be prepared to try this 
case if [defendant] would agree to remain in custody not-
withstanding the statute that requires him to be brought 
to trial no later than 180 days after being taken into 
custody on the charges. * * * And [defendant] declined to 
waive, he wanted to be released, and he made that clear 
both to Presiding Court and to this Court. He wanted to 
be released, and given the choice of waiving his—his 180 
days so that his counsel could be prepared to try the case, 
[defendant] declined to waive that * * * which the Court has 
concluded amounts to a waiver of his right to * * * counsel 
at the time of trial and that’s—that’s what [defendant] has 
done through his conduct.”

That afternoon, the jury was selected in the tampering case 
and the trial court gave defendant another opportunity to 
waive his speedy trial rights so it could appoint an attorney 
for him. Defendant refused that invitation once again.

	 On January 29, following the withdrawal of Dials 
as defendant’s attorney the previous day, the court ordered 
Pagan and Dials to appear in court. Following a confiden-
tial hearing outside of the presence of the district attorney, 
in which Pagan described defendant’s threatening behav-
ior, the court reversed its decision from the previous day 
that found defendant to have waived his right to counsel, 
but decided to not reappoint Pagan as defendant’s attorney. 
Accordingly, the court reappointed Dials, and found good 
cause to continue the tampering trial until February 25, so 
Dials would have time to prepare for trial.

	 On February 27, defendant’s trial on the tampering 
charges began. During the tampering trial, both Dials and 
defendant requested multiple times that Dials be allowed to 
withdraw as defendant’s attorney because of a bad attorney-
client relationship and defendant’s threatening behavior, 
but those requests were denied. The court noted that, on the 
first day of the tampering trial, when defendant was in jail 
shackles, defendant “attempted to grab Mr.  Dial’s necktie 
in what was an apparent attempt to injure his own lawyer.” 
The court ordered that defendant be restrained to a chair 
because “he may very well attempt to head-butt Mr. Dials, 
his lawyer, or a witness or a juror * * * and possibly cause 
a basis for a mistrial through his behavior.” On March 1, 
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the jury found defendant guilty of three counts of tampering 
with a witness and one count of tampering with physical 
evidence.

	 On March 20, Dials requested to withdraw as coun-
sel for defendant’s Measure 11 and prostitution cases, which 
had not yet gone to trial. Defendant stated that he wanted 
Dials removed from all of the cases, including the tamper-
ing case, in which he had not yet been sentenced. The court 
decided to handle the motion to withdraw on the Measure 11 
and prostitution cases separately from the motion to with-
draw on the tampering case. After hearing Dials’s concerns 
about defendant’s threatening behavior in another confiden-
tial hearing, the court allowed Dials to withdraw from the 
Measure 11 and prostitution cases, but Dials was ordered to 
continue to represent defendant for sentencing in the tam-
pering case.

	 The next day, March 21, Menchaca was appointed 
as defendant’s counsel in the Measure 11 and prostitution 
cases. After working with defendant for less than a week, 
Menchaca requested to withdraw from defendant’s case and 
defendant agreed that he did not want Menchaca as his attor-
ney. The trial court held a substitution hearing on March 27. 
At another confidential hearing, after hearing Menchaca’s 
concerns about defendant’s threatening behavior, the court 
concluded that defendant would not be appointed new coun-
sel because he had created “another conflict and attacked 
the well-being of the attorneys in their ability to represent” 
him. The court reminded defendant that it had told him on 
March 21, when Menchaca was appointed, that if he con-
tinued to create conflicts with his attorneys, he would find 
himself in the position of representing himself. The court 
granted Menchaca’s motion to withdraw and informed defen-
dant that “you are now not represented by counsel because 
of your own actions repetitively * * * placing at peril * * * 
the attorneys who have been appointed to you.” The court 
stated:

	 “[It is] with great reluctance, that this Court will allow 
any individual charge[d] with any crime, particularly seri-
ous crimes, compelling prostitution or Measure 11 matter 
with other counts as well, it is with great reluctance that I 
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would allow unless insistent by the defendant that a defen-
dant go to trial without counsel.

	 “* * * * *

	 “[B]ecause of [defendant’s] repetitive placing in peril 
the physical and mental wellbeing of each of the last three 
attorneys who were appointed, there is no recourse that the 
Court has but to remove the final counsel appointed and 
create a situation now where [defendant] will be represent-
ing himself at trial.”

The court continued:

“So, all efforts have been exhausted more so than with any 
other defendant that I can recall in recent history to provide 
counsel to [defendant,] [b]ut he has created the situation 
repetitively where there is an actual conflict which makes 
it absolutely intolerable and impossible for appointed coun-
sel to represent him * * * [s]o the case will remain on for 
trial on April 2 * * * [a]nd [defendant], at this point is rep-
resenting himself.”

	 On April 1, the trial court held a sentencing hear-
ing in the tampering case with Dials acting as defendant’s 
court-appointed counsel. The court also set the trial date 
for the Measure 11 and prostitution cases for June 3, so the 
court would have an opportunity to look into appointing 
counsel or a legal advisor by the time of the trial.

	 On April 9, the court appointed Sarre as defendant’s 
legal advisor in the Measure 11 and prostitution cases. On 
May 31, Sarre filed a motion to withdraw as defendant’s 
legal advisor—three days before the trial was scheduled to 
begin on June 3. Sarre informed the trial court, “whenever I 
mentioned to [defendant] well, some of this may not be pos-
sible, especially given the time, you may remember I’ve only 
been acquainted with this case for about six weeks, essen-
tially [defendant’s] response has been and continues to be a 
torrent of abuse[.]” The state objected to Sarre’s withdrawal, 
stating, “We are 72 hours away from trial. [Defendant] does 
need some assistance. [Defendant] can take advantage or 
not. We understand that Mr. Sarre is in a very difficult posi-
tion * * * [b]ut having him withdraw would not be in the best 
interests of [the] case[.]” In response, the trial court asked 
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the state if it had reviewed the affidavit submitted by Sarre, 
which stated:

	 “Except for maybe the initial two-week period imme-
diately following my appointment, [defendant] and I have 
had an extremely adversarial relationship in which any 
attempt I make to make the most minor ‘advisory’ point is 
countered with insults, threats (veiled and otherwise) and 
time wasting harangues. [Defendant] is completely hostile 
to me and regards me as yet another arm of the oppressive 
state apparatus that in his mind includes the DA’s office 
and the court system.

	 “* * * * *

	 “In short, I believe that [defendant] is manipulating this 
process simply to gain traction at a later date if he is con-
victed of these crimes in which he stands accused. I do not 
wish to aid [defendant] in this regard. Nor do I want to con-
tinue to endure the constant stream of abuse and threats 
that I hear from [defendant] whenever I attempt to offer 
even the most insignificant speck of ‘legal advice.’ I write 
this having represented several people representing them-
selves in an advisory role and I have found that even the 
most anti-social of these people have not sought out legal 
self-immolation in the way that [defendant] has. I do not 
find that my presence in this process has any real meaning 
and that continued association with [defendant] and his 
case is just further abuse that I do not wish to endure nor 
do I appreciate. Thus I respectfully petition this court to 
remove me as ‘legal advisor.’ ”

	 The state responded that “it’s apparent from every 
time [defendant] has been in court, that [defendant] contin-
ues to play games to try to * * * delay his trial.” The state 
pointed out that defendant “had seven different attorneys 
and was asking to be dismissed based on the fact that we 
could not bring him to trial within 180 [days.] * * * The court 
can tell that [defendant] is a very intelligent man. He knows 
the date, he knows the law[,] * * * [a]ll he is doing is trying to 
delay.” The state requested to “go out to trial like it was set 
on Monday. And that Mr. Sarre be there to help [defendant] 
if he chooses it.”

	 The court stated that, “given what the affidavit 
says, * * * I’m hard-pressed to continue Mr.  Sarre as his 



754	 State v. Clardy

legal advisor, which is why I was asking [defendant] if he 
chooses to use Mr. Sarre as his legal advisor still.” The court 
took the issue of Sarre’s status as defendant’s legal advisor 
under advisement and informed the parties that it would 
email a letter ruling later that day. Ultimately, the court 
denied Sarre’s motion to withdraw as defendant’s legal advi-
sor and Sarre assisted defendant throughout his guilt phase 
and sentencing enhancement phase trials for the Measure 
11 and prostitution cases. On June 18, defendant was con-
victed of four counts of promoting prostitution, two counts of 
compelling prostitution, second-degree assault, first-degree 
robbery, fourth-degree assault, and tampering with a wit-
ness in the Measure 11 and prostitution cases.

	 As noted above, in his fifth assignment of error 
on appeal, defendant argues that, under Article  I, section 
11, of the Oregon Constitution, and the Sixth Amendment 
to the United States Constitution, the trial court erred by 
requiring defendant to represent himself in the Measure 
11 and prostitution cases based on an erroneous conclusion 
that defendant had waived his right to counsel. The state 
responds that the trial court correctly denied defendant’s 
requests for appointed counsel in the Measure 11 and pros-
titution cases because, “under the circumstances, and in 
light of defendant’s repeated misconduct,” defendant validly 
waived his right to counsel and the trial court “correctly 
required defendant to represent himself” from that point 
forward.	

	 We consider questions of state law first. State 
v. Kennedy, 295 Or 260, 262, 666 P2d 1316 (1983). The 
Oregon Supreme Court has held that a criminal defen-
dant may waive the right to counsel protected by Article I, 
section 11, of the Oregon Constitution only if a trial court 
finds that (1) “the defendant knows of his or her right;” and 
(2) “the defendant intentionally relinquishes or abandons 
that right.” State v. Meyrick, 313 Or 125, 133, 831 P2d 666 
(1992). “Whether [a] defendant validly waived his right to 
counsel is a question of law that must be reviewed in light 
of the circumstances particular to the case.” State v. Culver, 
198 Or App 267, 269, 108 P3d 104 (2005) (citing Meyrick, 
313 Or at 132); State v. Langley, 351 Or 652, 666, 273 P3d 

http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A118469.htm
http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/S053206.pdf
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901 (2012) (“If a trial court grants a motion to withdraw 
and does not appoint substitute counsel, thus requiring 
the defendant to proceed pro se, we review for error of law 
whether the defendant has knowingly and intentionally 
waived his or her right to counsel.”). Because we are reluc-
tant to find that a defendant has waived such a fundamen-
tal right, “a valid waiver will not be presumed from a silent 
record.” Meyrick, 313 Or at 132. The parties do not discuss 
whether defendant expressly waived his right to counsel. 
Rather, their arguments focus on whether defendant waived 
that right by his conduct.

	 We must first determine whether defendant under-
stood the risks of proceeding pro se, thereby meeting the 
knowledge component of the waiver before he engaged 
in misconduct that could result in a waiver. See State v. 
Hightower, 361 Or 412, 417, 393 P3d 224 (2017) (“a valid 
waiver of the right to counsel must be preceded by a warn-
ing concerning the ‘dangers and disadvantages of self-
representation’ ” (quoting Meyrick, 313 Or at 133)); State v. 
Guerrero, 277 Or App 837, 845, 373 P3d 1127 (2016) (“[I]n 
order for the advance warning requirement to be meaning-
ful, a defendant must understand the risks and disadvan-
tages of self-representation before he engages in the addi-
tional misconduct that forms the predicate for a finding of 
implied waiver.” (Emphasis in original.)).

A.  Knowing Waiver of the Right to Counsel Under Article I, 
Section 11

	 In Meyrick, the Supreme Court explained the con-
tours of the knowledge component of the waiver analysis:

	 “The ‘known right’ component of a waiver has nothing 
to do with the ‘intentional’ component. It refers to a defen-
dant’s knowledge and understanding of the right to counsel. 
It encompasses ‘intelligent and competent,’ ‘intelligently,’ 
and ‘knowingly and intelligently.’ This is the more expan-
sive of the two components, because a defendant’s knowl-
edge and understanding of the right to counsel and of the 
dangers and disadvantages of self-representation may turn 
on things other than on what the court tells the defendant, 
such as the defendant’s age, education, and experience and 
the complexity of the charges and possible defenses.”

http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/S063924.pdf
http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/S063924.pdf
http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A150999.pdf
http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A150999.pdf
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313 Or at 132 n 8. The Supreme Court went on to explain 
that a “colloquy on the record between the court and the 
defendant” that “in some fashion, explains the risks of self-
representation is the preferred means of assuring that the 
defendant understands the risks of self-representation”; 
however, “Article I, section 11, does not require a catechism 
by the trial court.” Id. at 133-34. “Where the preferred 
colloquy did not occur on the record, or, alternatively, was 
insufficient to explain the risks of self-representation to the 
defendant, the court may nevertheless infer, if the totality 
of the circumstances so demonstrate, that the defendant 
knew the risks of self-representation.” State v. Howard, 172 
Or App 546, 553, 19 P3d 369, rev den, 332 Or 305 (2001). 
Thus, “[t]he failure of a trial court to impart a particular 
piece of information to a defendant will not, of itself, require 
reversal of a conviction if the record as a whole shows that 
defendant knew of his or her right to counsel[.]” Meyrick, 
313 Or at 134.

	 Defendant argues that he did not knowingly waive 
his right to counsel because the trial court did not advise 
defendant “that there are specific risks inherent in proceed-
ing without counsel (as required by Meyrick).” The state 
responds that “defendant understood the advantages of rep-
resentation and the disadvantages of proceeding without 
counsel,” and thus, defendant knew enough about his right 
to counsel to waive the right knowingly. Because it is evident 
from the record that defendant knew, at least in a general 
sense, of his right to counsel, we address only whether the 
record establishes that he understood that right. See State 
v. Erb, 256 Or App 416, 421, 300 P3d 270 (2013) (“[B]ecause 
there is no dispute that defendant knew, at least in a gen-
eral sense, of her right to counsel, we address whether the 
record establishes that defendant understood that right.” 
(Emphases in original.)).

	 Here, we conclude that the totality of the circum-
stances demonstrates that defendant understood his right 
to counsel and the risks inherent in proceeding without 
counsel. “Evidence in the record establishing that the defen-
dant had prior experience with the criminal justice system 
can support a finding that the defendant knowingly waived 

http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A100057.htm
http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A146224.pdf
http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A146224.pdf
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counsel.” State v. Easter, 241 Or App 574, 584, 249 P3d 991 
(2011). At sentencing on the Measure 11 and prostitution 
cases, defendant testified at length about his extensive 
criminal history and involvement with the criminal justice 
system, and the state entered his previous convictions as 
exhibits for the purposes of sentencing. Between 2004 and 
2013, defendant was convicted of eight state felonies and two 
misdemeanors, and one federal conviction for being a felon 
in possession of a firearm. Defendant’s extensive experience 
with the criminal justice system in seven cases over the 
past decade, including two jury trials and 11 convictions, 
would necessarily have involved significant interactions 
with defense counsel, prosecutors, judges, and jurors. Thus, 
defendant’s seven separate experiences where he was repre-
sented by defense counsel over the past decade supports a 
finding that defendant understood the value of having coun-
sel representing him at all stages of criminal proceedings.

	 Likewise, “a defendant’s first-hand experience of 
‘some of the basic things that an attorney could do’ provides 
evidence that a defendant understands the risks of self-
representation.” Id. (quoting State v. Reynolds, 224 Or App 
411, 419, 198 P3d 432 (2008), rev den, 346 Or 158 (2009)). 
Defendant experienced first-hand what an attorney could do 
at a jury trial immediately before he went to trial on the 
Measure 11 and prostitution cases when he was represented 
by Dials in the tampering case. Among other things, defen-
dant observed Dials present an opening statement and clos-
ing argument, examine and cross-examine witnesses, make 
evidentiary objections, and respond to evidentiary objec-
tions. Thus, defendant’s recent first-hand experience of the 
services Dials provided in his tampering case also supports 
an inference that he understood the role of counsel in a jury 
trial. Cf. State v. Haines, 283 Or App 444, 453-54, 388 P3d 
365 (2017) (concluding that the defendant did not under-
stand the benefits of having counsel at sentencing following 
a bench trial when his previous experience with an attorney 
was at sentencing following a plea deal with the state).    

	 Throughout the cases, when defendant’s attorneys 
withdrew, defendant repeatedly told the trial court that 
he would be unable to represent himself because he did 

http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A139234.htm
http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A130813.htm
http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A155001.pdf
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not “have the legal knowledge” and requested the court to 
appoint substitute counsel. In turn, the trial court appointed 
multiple attorneys to ensure that defendant would be ade-
quately represented. Cf. Guerrero, 277 Or App at 849 (con-
cluding that the defendant did not understand the risks of 
self-representation because, among other things, the defen-
dant “did not have the benefit of representation for any por-
tion of his trial”). Defendant also indicated that he might be 
able to retain private counsel when Pagan was permitted to 
withdraw. See Easter, 241 Or App at 584 (“[A] defendant’s 
request for retained counsel supports an inference that [the] 
defendant understands the risks of self-representation.”). 
Those facts suggest that defendant understood the risks of 
proceeding without counsel.

	 Finally, defendant’s attorneys, the state, and the 
trial court warned defendant that self-representation would 
place him at risk because of the complexity of the case and 
the serious charges he was facing. See Reynolds, 224 Or 
App at 418 (informing the defendant of the charges against 
him and the maximum penalties was a circumstance that 
supported a finding that the defendant understood the 
risks of self-representation); State v. Howard, 172 Or App 
546, 554, 19 P3d 369, rev den, 332 Or 305 (2001) (a collo-
quy that “plainly warned” the defendant that the “stakes 
at sentencing would be very high,” by explaining the max-
imum sentence, and explaining, “in specific terms, some of 
the functions an attorney could perform for [the] defendant,” 
demonstrates that the defendant understood the inherent 
risks in proceeding without counsel).

	 Before the Measure 11 and prostitution cases were 
severed from defendant’s tampering case, when Dials moved 
to withdraw because he would not be able to prepare for 
the case in “less than a week” due to defendant’s refusal to 
request a continuance, the court warned defendant that

“there are risks in this case proceeding to trial on Monday 
when you acknowledged and your lawyer has informed you 
that he cannot be ready for trial. I understand there are 
about a thousand pages of discovery in this case, it is com-
plicated, * * * [h]e probably isn’t even aware yet of all of the 
witnesses in this case.”

http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A100057.htm
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The court continued, stating, “so what you need to under-
stand is * * * the most serious of these charges,” and then 
it asked the state to explain the charges to defendant. The 
state advised defendant of the charges against him:

	 “[T]here are seven Ballot Measure 11 charges * * * there 
is a Rob I, which I think * * * he is looking at about 148 
months. There are two compelling prostitution, which I 
think with an upward [departure] he could be looking at 90 
months apiece. The assault II is 70 months, but * * * with an 
upward departure, [defendant] could be looking at another 
148 months. And there are multiple witness tamperings 
and promoting [prostitution] which are * * * about 90 to 60 
months apiece on each of those.”

	 The court wanted to make sure defendant under-
stood that he was “facing considerable time” and asked 
defendant multiple times if he understood the “risks of going 
to trial” without a prepared attorney and being unwilling 
“to waive [his] right, the 60 days [for speedy trial].” The 
court continued, reminding defendant that “the state has 
about 30 witnesses, there is a thousand pages of discovery.” 
Defendant responded, “I understand, * * * [I] know that we 
are not able to represent [my]self in an adequate amount 
of time[.]” The state offered additional warnings, inform-
ing defendant that, “if [Dials] were to get more time on 
this case, he would be able to do a more thorough investiga-
tion. He would probably be looking for an expert to testify, 
there will be additional motions, and [Dials] would be able 
to determine some strategy.” The state continued, warning 
defendant that “he is looking at registering as a sex offender 
if convicted.” Defendant responded, “yeah, we could do a lot 
of things, but it’s not my fault that * * * we had * * * all these 
conflicts.” Ultimately, the court granted Dial’s request to 
withdraw and required defendant to proceed pro se, but, as 
noted above, it was only briefly and Dials was re-appointed 
as defendant’s counsel when the cases were severed to allow 
him more time to prepare for a complex trial on the Measure 
11 and prostitution charges. Cf. Guerrero, 277 Or App at 850 
(concluding that the defendant did not understand the risks 
of self-representation because, among other things, the trial 
court did not “warn [the] defendant of the specific disad-
vantages of representing himself or that self-representation 
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would be unwise or detrimental to his case”). Those warn-
ings, and defendant’s responses, show that defendant under-
stood the risk of representing himself because this was a 
complex case that would require an attorney’s assistance 
and he was possibly facing a lengthy prison sentence.

	 In sum, (1) defendant’s extensive experience with 
criminal defense attorneys for a decade in seven different 
cases, including two jury trials; (2) his recent first-hand 
experience of observing a criminal defense attorney’s 
role at defendant’s own jury trial in the tampering case; 
(3) his repeated statements that he would be unable to rep-
resent himself, his repeated requests for the court to appoint 
substitute counsel, and his indication that he might retain 
counsel; and (4) the fact that he was warned about the com-
plexity of his case and that he would be facing a lengthy 
prison sentence, show that defendant understood his right to 
counsel and the risks inherent in proceeding without coun-
sel. Thus, we conclude that the totality of the circumstances 
demonstrates defendant’s knowledge and understanding of 
his right to counsel under Article I, section 11.

B.  Intentional Waiver of Counsel Under Article I, Section 11

	 Because we conclude that defendant understood the 
risks of self-representation and, thus, knew of his right to 
counsel, we now turn to the question of whether defendant 
intentionally waived his right to counsel. As noted, the par-
ties do not argue that defendant intentionally expressed his 
waiver by words, thus, we consider only whether defendant’s 
conduct adequately conveyed defendant’s intentional choice 
to proceed without counsel. Defendant argues that, under 
the circumstances, “the record was insufficient to find that 
defendant intended to waive his right to counsel through his 
conduct” because the trial court did not warn him that “he 
is at risk of waiving his right to counsel should he continue 
to engage in misconduct.” The state responds that, “under 
the circumstances, defendant’s decision to place attorney 
Menchaca’s mental and physical health in peril was an 
intentional waiver of his right to counsel.”

	 A defendant’s waiver of the right to counsel may 
be demonstrated by conduct. Langley, 351 Or at 669. 
Langley established that three prerequisites must be met to 
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establish a waiver by conduct: (1) “engaging in repeated mis-
conduct in the attorney-client relationship” that “defeats the 
ability of counsel to carry out the representation function”; 
(2) an “ ‘advance warning [to the defendant] that continu-
ation of [his or her] abusive behavior would result in * * * 
being forced to proceed pro se’ ” and; (3) a reasonable oppor-
tunity for the defendant to “present his or her position on 
the facts in a manner that permits, if appropriate, the safe-
guarding of confidential communications and trial strategy 
from public disclosure.”  Id. at 669-73 (quoting Wayne R. 
LaFave 3 Criminal Procedure § 11.4(b), 705-06 nn 29-31 (3d 
ed 2007)).6

	 In Langley, the defendant’s court appointed attor-
neys moved to withdraw on the basis of “irreconcilable dif-
ferences * * * not of [the defendant’s] making.” Id. at 667. The 
trial court granted co-counsel McCabe’s request to withdraw, 
but concluded that lead counsel Smith could continue to pro-
vide representation and appointed Bergland as the defen-
dant’s new co-counsel. Id. The trial court gave the defendant 
the “choice of either (a) affirmatively accepting Smith and 
Bergland as his counsel, or (b) proceeding pro se either with 
or without the assistance of advisory counsel.” Id. The defen-
dant proceeded, “on the advice of counsel, to decline to make 
the proposed choice.” Id. at 673. The trial “court decided that 
[the] defendant’s refusal to make the offered choice entitled 
the court to make the choice itself in favor of compelled self-
representation, rather than representation by counsel.” Id.

	 The Supreme Court held that those circumstances 
did not amount to a waiver of the right to counsel by conduct 
for three reasons. First, the defendant’s behavior did not 
amount to misconduct that defeated the ability of counsel to 
carry out the representation function. “In deciding whether 
a defendant’s misconduct constitutes a waiver of counsel by 
conduct, a court must bear in mind the distinction between a 
defendant’s noncooperation with appointed counsel and the 
kind of misconduct that may establish a waiver of counsel by 

	 6  LaFave cites United States v. Goldberg, 67 F3d 1092, 1101 (3d Cir 1995) 
(“[A] ‘waiver by conduct’ requires that a defendant be warned about the conse-
quences of his conduct, including the risks of proceeding pro se.” (Citing Illinois v. 
Allen, 397 US 337, 90 S Ct 1057, 25 L Ed 2d 353 (1970) and Faretta v. California, 
422 US 806, 95 S Ct 2525, 45 L Ed 2d 562 (1975).)).
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conduct.” Id. at 670. That is so because a “defendant has no 
legal obligation to waive or abandon his objections regarding 
his appointed counsel or * * * to affirmatively cooperate with 
counsel.” Id. at 672. The Supreme Court concluded that the 
“[d]efendant’s decision, on the advice of counsel, to decline 
to make the proposed choice did not amount to misconduct 
or manipulation of the court by [the] defendant” and that, by 
declining to make that proposed choice, the “defendant did 
not engage in a knowing and intentional waiver by conduct.” 
Id. at 673.

	 Second, the defendant was not given an advance 
warning that continuation of his behavior would result 
in being compelled to proceed pro se. The trial court had 
scolded the defendant for his noncooperation with counsel 
and indicated that he may be compelled at some point to 
proceed with that counsel notwithstanding his objections 
about their representation. Id. at 670-71. The trial court “did 
not refer to or otherwise base its decision on any prior warn-
ing to [the] defendant that repetition of [the] defendant’s 
manipulative behavior * * * would (or even could) result in 
the court requiring him to proceed pro se.” Id. at 671. The 
Supreme Court concluded that its “review of the record indi-
cates that the required prior warning * * * is lacking in this 
case.” Id.

	 Finally, the trial court did not give the defendant 
the opportunity to present his position on the facts in a man-
ner that permitted the safeguarding of confidential commu-
nications and trial strategy from public disclosure. The trial 
court instead “based its assumption that [the] defendant’s 
complaints about his lawyers were frivolous only on the evi-
dence proffered by [his attorneys] in their sealed affidavits.” 
Id. at 672. Instead of allowing the defendant an opportu-
nity to present his position in a manner that would protect 
confidential information, the trial court “made it clear that 
the court would require defendant to disclose all that infor-
mation in open court” even after the state agreed to a non-
public disclosure outside of their presence. Id. The Supreme 
Court concluded that it was error for the trial court to force 
the defendant to disclose that information in open court or 
otherwise assume that he was engaging in misconduct or 
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manipulation if the defendant did not make the public dis-
closure. Id. at 672-73.

	 This case presents a stark contrast to Langley in all 
three respects. First, in this case, defendant did engage in 
repeated misconduct in his attorney-client relationships that 
was abusive and defeated the ability of his last three court-
appointed lawyers to carry out the representation function. 
As noted above, the trial court observed that defendant 
“attempted to grab Mr. Dials’s necktie in what was an appar-
ent attempt to injure his own lawyer.” Additionally, in the 
sealed portions of the record, Pagan, Dials, and Menchaca 
all described the various threats defendant had made to 
them and defendant was given an opportunity to present his 
position on the facts privately. Thus, we conclude that defen-
dant engaged in repeated misconduct in the attorney-client 
relationship that defeated the ability of his last three attor-
neys to carry out the representation function, as evidenced 
by his attempt to injure Dials in open court by grabbing his 
necktie and his repeated abusive conduct by threatening his 
last three appointed attorneys.

	 Second, when Menchaca withdrew from the Measure 
11 and prostitution cases, the court reminded defendant that 
it had told him on March 21, when Menchaca was appointed, 
“that you were given the opportunity to work with, with that 
new attorney, [and if] you created a conflict such that the 
new attorney could not continue based upon the reasons that 
have been stated on the record, a sealed record, that you will 
find yourself in a position of representing yourself.” See id. 
at 671 (A trial court must “refer to or otherwise base its deci-
sion on any prior warning to [the] defendant that repetition 
of [the] defendant’s manipulative behavior * * * would (or 
even could) result in the court requiring him to proceed pro 
se.”). Here, the trial court explicitly referred to and based 
its decision on a prior warning to defendant that repetition 
of defendant’s abusive behavior would result in the court 
requiring him to proceed pro se. Thus, the required prior 
warning is not lacking in this case.

	 Finally, as noted above, defendant was given 
the opportunity to present his position on the facts in a 
manner that permitted the safeguarding of confidential 
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communications. When Pagan, Dials, and Menchaca with-
drew, defendant was given an opportunity to present his 
position in confidential hearings outside of the presence of 
the state. Thus, unlike in Langley, the trial court in this 
case considered information that came directly from defen-
dant and did not err when it concluded that defendant inten-
tionally waived his right to counsel by conduct because of 
defendant’s “repetitive placing in peril the physical and 
mental well-being of each of the last three attorneys who 
were appointed.”

	 For the reasons articulated above, we conclude 
that defendant knowingly and intentionally waived his 
right to counsel under Article 1, section 11 of the Oregon 
Constitution.

C.  Waiver of Right to Counsel Under the Sixth Amendment

	 As noted above, defendant also argues that he did 
not waive his right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment. 
Defendant contends, citing United States v. Meeks, 987 
F2d 575, 577 (9th Cir), cert den, 510 US 919 (1993), that he 
should have been “advised that he is in danger of waiving 
his right to counsel if his misconduct continues as well as 
the dangers of proceeding without counsel.” In Meeks, the 
trial court required the defendant to proceed pro se because 
it was “frustrated by the delays caused by Meeks’s ‘continual 
changing of attorneys.’ ” Id. at 577. The Ninth Circuit deter-
mined that the defendant had not validly waived his right 
to counsel because the trial court forced him to proceed pro 
se by “denying Meeks’ motion to substitute counsel while, 
at the same time, granting [his attorney’s] motion to with-
draw” and failing to “make Meeks aware of the dangers of 
proceeding pro se,” especially given his history of mental ill-
ness. Id. at 579. Defendant’s reliance on Meeks is misplaced 
for two reasons.

	 First, as noted above, the trial court in this case 
explicitly referred to and based its decision on a prior warn-
ing to defendant that repetition of defendant’s abusive behav-
ior would result in the court requiring him to proceed pro se. 
Defendant’s choice to continue his abuse towards Menchaca 
following that warning resulted in an intentional waiver by 
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conduct. See United States v. Sutcliffe, 505 F3d 944, 955-56 
(9th Cir 2007) (the defendant validly waived right to counsel 
by conduct when trial court based its ruling on prior warn-
ings that he was at risk of waiving his right to counsel).

	 Second, as we explain above in our discussion of 
whether defendant understood his right to counsel, the 
warnings defendant received, in combination with the total-
ity of the circumstances, resulted in a “knowing and intel-
ligent relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or 
privilege.” Edwards v. Arizona, 451 US 477, 482, 101 S Ct 
1880, 68 L Ed 2d 378 (1981) (knowing and intelligent waiver 
“depends in each case ‘upon the particular facts and circum-
stances surrounding that case, including the background, 
experience, and conduct of the accused’ ” (quoting Johnson v. 
Zerbst, 304 US 458, 464, 58 S Ct 1019, 82 L Ed 1461 (1938))).

	 Defendant does not identify any other circum-
stances that would lead us to reach a different result under 
the Sixth Amendment. Based on the warnings defendant 
received and the totality of the circumstances discussed 
above, which resulted in defendant knowingly and inten-
tionally waiving his right to counsel under Article I, section 
11, we conclude that defendant voluntarily, knowingly, and 
intelligently waived his Sixth Amendment right to counsel 
“with eyes open.” Faretta v. California, 422 US 806, 835, 95 
S Ct 2525, 45 L Ed 2d 562 (1975).

D.  Court’s Refusal to Appoint New Counsel

	 Defendant also argues that “[t]he trial court abused 
its discretion when it refused to appoint counsel” after defen-
dant was found guilty and renewed his request for counsel 
to assist him during the enhancement trial and sentencing. 
The ruling identified by defendant related to the refusal to 
appoint counsel is the trial court’s denial of his motion for 
appointment of counsel on July 18, the day that the sentenc-
ing enhancement trial was set to begin. Defendant contends 
that “appointment of counsel for enhancement proceedings 
or sentencing would not necessarily have required disrup-
tion of scheduled proceedings.” We disagree; the trial court 
did not abuse its discretion in denying defendant’s motion to 
appoint counsel.
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	 “[B]y waiving the right to counsel, a defendant nec-
essarily asserts the right to self-representation.” Hightower, 
361 Or at 417 (citing Langley, 351 Or at 665). “But that does 
not mean that, once * * * the right to self-representation has 
been invoked, the correlative right [to counsel] has been for-
ever relinquished.” Id. However, in light of the “additional 
interests that are triggered by commencement of trial, any 
invocation of the right to counsel * * * that occurs after that 
time is subject to the court’s discretion.” Id. at 418; Easter, 
241 Or App at 587; State v. Gale, 240 Or App 305, 309-10, 
246 P3d 50 (2010); State v. Hug, 186 Or App 569, 572, 64 P3d 
1173, rev den, 335 Or 510 (2003). “If the trial court’s deci-
sion was within the range of legally correct discretionary 
choices and produced a permissible, legally correct outcome, 
the trial court did not abuse its discretion.” State v. Rogers, 
330 Or 282, 312, 4 P3d 1261 (2000). In this context, “the 
record must include some indication of how the trial court 
actually weighed the relevant competing interests involved 
for an appellate court to be able to determine whether the 
trial court abused its discretion.” Hightower, 361 Or at 421.

	 “ ‘When assessing a request * * * to obtain new coun-
sel, a trial court must balance a defendant’s right to choice of 
counsel against the need of the public and of all defendants 
for expedition in the court system.’ ” Easter, 241 Or App at 
587 (quoting Hug, 186 Or App at 572-73). As we have stated, 
we have “generally affirmed denials of last-minute requests 
for continuances to seek new counsel where it appeared that 
the defendants were in need of new counsel at a late hour 
due to their own action or inaction.” Hug, 186 Or App at 573. 
However, if the state would not be prejudiced by a continu-
ance to obtain new counsel, and the state’s need to conclude 
the case in a timely manner is outweighed by defendant’s 
right to counsel, we have reversed denials of requests for 
continuances to seek new counsel. Gale, 240 Or App at 312.

	 Here, defendant was convicted in the Measure 11 
and prostitution cases on June 18. The parties originally 
agreed to proceed with the sentencing enhancement trial—
which required the guilt-phase jury to hear additional 
evidence—immediately after trial. Just before the sentenc-
ing enhancement trial was to begin, defendant requested, 

http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A140156.htm
http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A114040.htm
http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/S41392.htm
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and received, a setover to July 18. On July 15, three days 
before the sentencing enhancement trial was set to begin, 
the trial court heard a motion from Sarre to withdraw as 
defendant’s legal advisor due to defendant’s behavior that 
Sarre characterized as abusive. At the same time, defen-
dant moved for another continuance and told the court that 
he would be moving for appointment of counsel. The court 
denied Sarre’s motion to withdraw, stating:

“This case went to trial in June, he was found guilty of most 
counts. At his request, [defendant’s] request, the sentenc-
ing was set over because he wanted a PSI completed. Given 
the—the jury had to be brought back, or is scheduled to be 
brought back on [the 18th] of this month for the dangerous 
offender enhancement sentencing trial a month after they 
have completed the trial. * * * [T]here is no way that I could 
get us in a position to have another legal advisor ready to 
take on the next phase of the trial, and we have a jury that 
has been waiting about a month to come back and hear the 
remainder of the case.”

Based on the same concerns, including the fact that the jury 
had been waiting for a month and was already scheduled to 
return three days later, the court denied the continuance. 
On July 18, at the start of the sentencing enhancement trial, 
defendant moved for appointment of counsel. Referring to its 
rulings three days earlier, the trial court denied the motion 
for the same reasons that it had denied Sarre’s motion to 
withdraw and the motion for a continuance.

	 As we have explained, when defendant moved for a 
continuance on July 15 and moved for appointment of coun-
sel on July 18, the court had already postponed the sentenc-
ing for approximately one month after the guilt phase of the 
trial. During that month, defendant did not request appoint-
ment of counsel; instead, he waited to move for a continu-
ance until three days before the sentencing enhancement 
trial and moved for appointment of counsel on the day of the 
sentencing enhancement trial. See Hug, 186 Or App at 576 
(“defendant had a reasonable amount of time, approximately 
two months, to retain an attorney”). As the trial court noted, 
the jury had been waiting for approximately one month to 
be brought back to complete its work. Accordingly, given the 
dilatory and last-minute nature of defendant’s requests, and 
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the state’s need to timely try the sentencing enhancement 
to a jury that had already been waiting approximately one 
month, we conclude that the record reflects that the trial 
court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for 
another continuance or in denying defendant’s motion for 
appointment of counsel. See Hightower, 361 Or at 418 (a trial 
court may exercise its discretion to deny a motion to appoint 
counsel that is conditioned on the grant of a continuance or 
if it has reason to conclude that granting the motion would 
result in disruption of the proceedings).

II.  DEMURRER TO THE INDICTMENT

	 In his eighth assignment of error, defendant argues 
that “[t]he trial court erred when it denied defendant’s 
demurrer to the indictment in case number 12-06-32917.” 
Specifically, defendant contends that “[t]he trial court erred 
in denying defendant’s demurrer because the state failed to 
plead the basis of joinder” and the error harmed defendant 
because “none of the three categories of offenses concerned 
an over-arching scheme that would have permitted admis-
sion of all of the evidence regarding the other two offenses 
had they been tried alone.” The state argues that any such 
error was harmless because the evidence would have been 
admissible in separate trials “in light of the factual link 
between defendant’s various crimes.”

	 We briefly state the facts underlying defendant’s 
convictions in case number 12-06-32917. In May of 2012, 
defendant and S “started a romantic relationship.” Shortly 
thereafter, S began working as a prostitute and defen-
dant took pictures of S to post advertisements online for 
lap dances, massages, and escort services. S testified that 
defendant directly benefited from her prostitution activities 
and that defendant would use physical force to keep her 
from abandoning the relationship and the associated pros-
titution activities. While defendant and S were living in a 
hotel, another victim, O, negotiated with S for 25 minutes 
of sexual activity for $185. After the 25 minutes elapsed, 
defendant entered the room and told O that “time was up,” 
and told S that he was going to “beat [her] ass.” O took his 
money and ran to his car. Defendant chased O out to O’s car, 
punched and kicked him, and took the $185 from O.
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	 While defendant was chasing O, S fled to another 
hotel room occupied by her friend. Defendant tracked S 
down and punched, kicked, and choked S, and tried to burn 
her hair. Eventually, S was able to contact the police and 
defendant was arrested. After defendant was arrested, 
defendant sent a letter from jail to his friend, Eldridge, in 
which defendant asked Eldridge to claim that he witnessed 
the altercation between defendant and O. In that letter, 
defendant asked Eldridge to contact defendant’s attorney to 
tell the attorney that O punched defendant first, and that O 
attacked defendant with a knife when defendant confronted 
O about not paying for “a lap dance or something.”
	 Defendant was subsequently indicted for multiple 
crimes. The indictment in case number 12-06-32917 charged 
defendant with committing six counts of promoting prostitu-
tion and two counts of compelling prostitution. Additionally, 
with respect to O, defendant was charged with one count 
of second-degree assault, two counts of first-degree rob-
bery, two counts of second-degree robbery, and two counts 
of third-degree robbery. Defendant was also charged with 
committing one count of fourth-degree assault against S, 
and one count of tampering with a witness for the letter that 
defendant sent to Eldridge.
	 Defendant filed a “demurrer to the indictment 
for violation of ORS 132.560,” arguing that “[t]he failure 
to plead any of the three requirements of ORS 132.560 
on the face of the indictment is fatal, and the indictment 
must be dismissed.”7 Defendant, acting pro se, also argued 

	 7  ORS 135.630(2) provides, in part, that a “defendant may demur to the 
[indictment] when it appears on the face thereof” that “it does not substantially 
conform to the requirements of * * * ORS 132.560.” In turn, ORS 132.560(1)(b) 
provides:

	 “A charging instrument must charge but one offense, and in one form 
only except that:
	 “* * * * *
	 “(b)  Two or more offenses may be charged in the same charging instru-
ment in a separate count for each offense if the offenses charged are alleged 
to have been committed by the same person and are:
	 “(A)  Of the same or similar character;
	 “(B)  Based on the same act or transaction; or
	 “(C)  Based on two or more acts or transactions connected together or 
constituting parts of a common scheme or plan.”
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that the court should allow the demurrer, and dismiss 
and then sever the charges. The state responded that the 
charges were “properly joined” in the indictment and that 
defendant “has not set forth any facts to show that they 
should not be joined * * * or severed and no authority for the 
charges to be dismissed.” The court disallowed defendant’s 
demurrer.

	 On appeal, defendant argues that the trial court 
erred when it disallowed his demurrer to the indictment. We 
held in State v. Poston, 277 Or App 137, 144-45, 370 P3d 904 
(2016), adh’d to on recons, 285 Or App 750 (2017), that, in 
order to meet the requirements of ORS 132.560, “the state 
[is] required to allege in the charging instrument the basis 
for the joinder of the crimes that are charged in it, whether 
by alleging the basis for the joinder in the language of the 
joinder statute, or by alleging facts sufficient to establish 
compliance with the joinder statute.” The state concedes, 
and we agree, that “the indictment at issue did not comply 
with the rule of law that Poston announced.” Thus, the trial 
court erred when it disallowed defendant’s demurrer to the 
indictment.

	 As required by Article VII (Amended), section 3, 
of the Oregon Constitution, we must consider whether the 
trial court’s error in disallowing defendant’s demurrer was 
harmless because it had little likelihood of affecting the 
verdict. Poston, 277 Or App at 145; see also State v. Davis, 
336 Or 19, 32, 77 P3d 1111 (2003) (“Oregon’s constitu-
tional test for affirmance despite error consists of a single 
inquiry: Is there little likelihood that the particular error 
affected the verdict?”). As we stated in Poston and reaf-
firmed on reconsideration in that case, “whether improper 
joinder of charges affected the verdict depends on whether 
joinder led to the admission of evidence that would not have 
been admissible but for the [erroneous] joinder * * * and, 
if so, whether that evidence affected the verdict on those 
charges.” 277 Or App at 145; see also State v. Poston, 285 Or 
App 750, 754-55, ___ P3d ___ (2017) (“Because the charges 
were not lawfully joined in the indictment, defendant was 
prejudiced in the manner that we identified, that is, by 
proceeding to trial on charges of promoting prostitution 

http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A152933.pdf
http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A152933A.pdf
http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/S49523.htm
http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A152933A.pdf
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and identity theft that were not lawfully joined for trial.”). 
In other words, to conclude that the erroneous joinder was 
harmless—that it had little likelihood of affecting the ver-
dict on a charge or properly joined group of charges—we 
must be able to determine that all of the evidence that 
was admitted at trial to prove other, improperly joined, 
charges would “have been admissible” in a hypothetical 
trial on the charge or group of charges alone. 277 Or App 
at 145.

	 In Poston, the defendant was convicted, after a jury 
trial, of several counts each of promoting prostitution and 
identity theft. Id. at 140. The defendant was initially arrested 
on a probation violation and incarcerated at the Inverness 
Jail, where the Multnomah County Sheriff’s Office moni-
tored the defendant’s phone calls, mail, and inmate account. 
Id. at 138. The defendant used the personal identification 
numbers of other inmates to place phone calls to the vic-
tims to instruct them on how to conduct their prostitution 
activities and to tell them that they needed to deposit money 
from their prostitution activities in the defendant’s inmate 
account. Id. at 138-39. To prove the promoting prostitution 
charges, the state was required to prove that defendant, 
“ ‘with intent to promote prostitution, * * * knowingly * * * 
[r]eceive[d] or agree[d] to receive money or other property 
* * * pursuant to an agreement or understanding that the 
money or other property is derived from a prostitution activ-
ity.’ ” Id. at 139 n 1 (quoting ORS 167.012(1)).

	 We held that the indictment was insufficient to 
allow joinder of the promoting-prostitution charges with 
the identity-theft charges under ORS 132.560. Id. at 144-
45. To determine whether the erroneous joinder was harm-
less, we considered whether the evidence that had actually 
been presented at the trial on the joined charges would have 
been “admissible” in two hypothetical trials—one on the 
promoting-prostitution charges and one on the identity-theft 
charges. Id. at 145-46.

	 We first concluded that the erroneous joinder was 
harmless with respect to the promoting-prostitution charges 
because all of the evidence of identity theft would have been 
admissible “to show that, when asking the victims to place 
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money in his inmate account, [the defendant] knew that 
he was asking them to send him money that they obtained 
through prostitution activity.” Id. at 146. That is, the fact 
that the defendant had used the personal identification 
numbers of other inmates to make the telephone calls to 
the victims—strongly suggesting that he sought to hide his 
identity from anyone who might be monitoring the calls—
was probative of the defendant’s knowledge that the money 
he obtained from the victims as a result of the telephone 
calls was “ ‘derived from a prostitution activity.’ ” Id. at 139 
n  1 (quoting ORS 167.012(1)). That probative evidence of 
guilt, which carried a comparatively low risk of unfair prej-
udice, would very likely have been admitted at a trial on the 
promoting-prostitution charges alone.

	 By contrast, we concluded that the erroneous join-
der was not harmless with respect to the identity-theft 
charges because we could not “conclude that the evidence 
bearing on the promoting-prostitution counts would have 
been admissible at a trial in which defendant was charged 
only with identity theft.” Id. at 146. It is possible that the 
promoting-prostitution evidence—evidence of the content 
of the telephone calls that the defendant made using the 
personal identification numbers of other inmates—would 
be relevant, at least, to the defendant’s motive for commit-
ting identity theft. Nevertheless, we could not conclude that 
that evidence would very likely have been admitted “at a 
trial in which defendant was charged only with identity 
theft” because its probative value might have been rela-
tively low in light of the other available evidence of identity 
theft, and its risk of unfair prejudice would be compara-
tively high. Id.

	 Our analysis in Poston demonstrates that evidence 
presented at trial on erroneously joined charges would be 
“admissible,” as we used that term in Poston, in a hypothet-
ical trial on each charge or properly joined group of charges, 
only when (1) each item of evidence that was actually pre-
sented could have been admitted in the hypothetical trial 
under a legally correct evidentiary analysis and (2) it is 
implausible that, had the defendant objected under OEC 
403 or raised some other objection invoking the trial court’s 
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discretion, the trial court would have excluded that evidence 
in the hypothetical trial.8

	 Applying that analysis here, we conclude that the 
erroneous joinder was not harmless as to any of the charges 
in case number 12-06-32917. Defendant argues that not all 
of the evidence actually presented at trial would have been 
relevant in hypothetical separate trials on each group of 
charges and, furthermore, that it is not implausible that a 
trial court would have excluded some of the otherwise rel-
evant evidence under OEC 403. We agree. We cannot say 
that, if defendant had been indicted and tried separately 
on the prostitution-related charges, the robbery charges, 
the assault charges, and the witness-tampering charge, all 
of the evidence that was actually presented at trial would 
have been admissible in any one of the hypothetical tri-
als. Accordingly, the erroneous disallowance of defendant’s 
demurrer was not harmless.

III.  CONCLUSION

	 Defendant validly waived his right to counsel under 
Article 1, section 11 of the Oregon Constitution and the 
Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The 
trial court did not abuse its discretion when it required 
defendant to proceed pro se and when it denied his further 
request for counsel in the sentencing enhancement trial for 
the Measure 11 and prostitution cases. The trial court erred 
when it disallowed defendant’s demurrer to the indictment in 
case number 12-06-32917 and that error was not harmless.	
Case number 12-06-32917 reversed and remanded for entry 

	 8  Our explanation does not foreclose the possibility that, in some cases, the 
evidence that was introduced to prove the improperly joined charge or charges 
might be so benign that its admission has little likelihood of affecting the verdict 
on the other charge or charges. See, e.g., State v. McColly, 286 Or App 168, 173-74, 
___ P3d ___ (2017) (noting that charges of menacing and harassment “are not so 
inflammatory that identifying those charges [by name] is more prejudicial than 
informing the jury that defendant was charged with unspecified misdemean-
ors”). However, because evidence introduced to prove improperly joined charges 
will usually involve other criminal acts by the defendant, such cases may be rare. 
See, e.g., State v. Williams, 357 Or 1, 20, 346 P3d 455 (2015) (noting that evidence 
of a defendant’s other bad acts, particularly when they lack legitimate probative 
value in the context of the case, presents a “substantial” “risk that the jury may 
conclude improperly that the defendant has acted in accordance with past acts on 
the occasion of the charged crime”).

http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A156900.pdf
http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/S061769.pdf
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of judgment allowing demurrer. Case number 12-07-33213 
remanded for resentencing and otherwise affirmed. Case 
number 12-08-33617 affirmed.9

	 9  Initially, all three cases were consolidated and joined for trial. However, 
as noted above, the tampering case was severed and defendant was tried and 
sentenced in that case before he was tried and sentenced in the measure 11 and 
prostitution cases. Because the Measure 11 case, 12-06-32917, is being reversed 
and remanded for a judgment of dismissal, the prostitution case, 12-07-33213, 
must be remanded for resentencing. See State v. Sheikh-Nur, 285 Or App 529, 
531, ___P3d___ (2017) (“ORS 138.222(5)(b) requires resentencing of all of the 
convictions in the consolidated cases.”). Our disposition does not affect the valid-
ity of the judgment of conviction in the tampering case.

http://www.publications.ojd.state.or.us/docs/A159054.pdf
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